Historic Building Record for

STONE HALL BARN, DOWN HALL ROAD, MATCHING,
ESSEX.

INTRODUCTION.

This record is produced as an essential part of planning conditions imposed with Planning Applications nos. EPF/0618/06 & EPF/0619/06 for the change of use of Stone Hall barn from commercial to domestic. It follows a brief prepared by the Historic Environment Management Team (HEM) of Essex County Council for the programme of archaeological work required in advance of the conversion of the Grade II listed barn from offices to a single dwelling, and demolition and rebuilding of the associated modern extension.
Stone Hall Farm lies to the north east of Matching church. It is situated on Down Hall Road a little to the north of the junction with Church Road at a position TQ 5288 1235. The present farm site consists of Stone Hall (C) to the south with the barn (A) and stables (E) immediately to the north, then to the north and west of these are buildings (D,F,G&H) and areas of hard standing making up a business park. Minimal remnants of the farming past remain on the site.
The barn is listed as Grade II, of the late sixteenth century, comprising four bays aligned NE – SW. The SE face of the barn is divided from the western end as one bay with an early lean-to, possibly granary, in front; the midstrey bay, and, two further bays to the east. None of the bays to this side are aisled. The full length of the NW face of the barn is aisled. The barn is timber-framed in oak on a brick plinth and covered in softwood weather boarding. The inside of the barn in respect to this survey was not available for examination but from supplied photographs is plastered between the studs. At the time of survey the rebuilt unit (B) from the south east corner was nearing completion and no evidence for the previous building remained. 
Parallel to the NW face of the barn and close to it is a commercial timber building (D). This also applies but with a slightly greater gap (F) to the SW of the barn. Adjacent to these buildings and facing to the SE is the remains of a good nineteenth century stable range built in brick (E). Further buildings extend towards the SW of the site, all in commercial use and not available for any examination during this survey.
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HISTORICAL INVESTIGATION.
Matching is in the Harlow Hundred and the name Stone Hall is used in 1768 by Morant1. Quotes from Morant concerning Stone Hall are:- 
Page 499 – “Stone-Hall is a little way north-east from church”. 
The sales catalogue2 from 1833 describes lot 7, Stone Hall Farm, as a freehold estate – eligibly situated in the parishes of Matching & Hatfield Broad Oak. Within three miles of Harlow & ten from Chelmsford & Bishops Stortford.

Comprising a Farm House containing Dining Room, Hall, Parlour,Pantry,Cellar,and four Bed Rooms; Two Barns, Stable, Chaff House, Cow House, Waggon Lodge, Piggeries, Fowl House and 131arcres 1rod 11perches of Arable and Meadow Land (4 acres of which are Tithe free). Let to H.W.H. Quare Esq. whose lease expires at Michaelmas 1834 at the apportional rent of £130 per annum.
Apportioned for Land Tax £13 2s 6d.

It was sold at the Black Boy Inn, Chelmsford, by Mr. W. W. Simpson. Sold Friday 18th October 1833 at 3 O’clock in the afternoon, in ten lots by the order of the Co-heirs of John Shales Barrington Esq. It was bought by a Mr T. J. Selwin Esq. for £5000.

John Shales Barrington Esq. mentioned in sales catalogue of 1833, appears to be a member of the Barrington family described in Morant. They had property at Barrington Hall, Hatfield Broad Oak & The Priory, Hatfield Broad Oak. 
“Sir Charles Barrington dies without issue 29th January 1714-15. – Land in Essex passes to his sister Anne, wife of Charles Shales Esq. for life and to her children after her. - !768 the present possessor of Barrington Estate is a younger son John Barrington Shales Esq. having succeeded on the death of his elder brother”.1
The plan with the sales document shows that the land around Lot 7 was all held by I T Selwin esq. ( I’s & J’s can be the same depending on who transcribes it). He then appears to have stripped a viable farm of some 131 acres of all the land that he wanted and then let the rest. By the time of the Tithe Award of 18403 he had reduced the size of Stone Hall Farm to a little over 42 acres and was renting it to a George Tippler.
The earliest available map to show the site is the Chapman & Andrée map of Essex4 where Stone Hall (C) is shown but as with most detail on C&A is very vague. It shows three main blocks of which one is the house and the other two are possible barns. The next map was with the sales particulars and again suggests two barns against the road edge. The Tithe Award map for Matching does show more buildings with more detail suggesting that two barns definitely still exist in 1840 with the house and what is almost certainly the stable block plus one other building to the west. 
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Some of the building detail on the Tithe map appears reversed but this has been noted on other Tithe Award maps and the reason for it is not clear. No 1st Series Ordnance Survey map survives in the Essex Record Office for the Matching area but the second Series from 18975 shows more detail and considerable changes in the farmyard. The southern barn against the road has now gone and been replaced by two open fronted shelter sheds and closed farmyard divisions suggesting a change in farming practice. The Stable and the building further west still survive and a possible cartlodge has been erected to the north of the site. By the time of the New Series in 19216 all the above still exist and the closed yard to the west of the barn has an additional long building on its northern edge.  By the second half of the twentieth century a series of intensive rearing chicken sheds (H) have been built extending the farmyard site to the west. In the latter part of the twentieth century further commercial buildings have been added and most of the existing ones converted to make a business park.
THE BARN. (A)
Subject of this survey is the remaining timber-framed barn that survives to the north of the house. It has already obtained change of use and is converted to offices. The present proposals change this again from commercial to domestic. To the south east of the barn a modern range of buildings following the road edge had replaced one of the shelter sheds. The one running north-east to south-west one assumes was demolished at the same time. This south-east range was already well into rebuild by the time of the survey and no study was made of it.
The main barn is single aisled, of four bays, with midstrey. From the oak timbers and viewed joints it could date from the later part of the sixteenth century or into the early seventeenth century. Construction is a mix of pegged close studding below the mid rail and primary braced construction above the mid rail with all the contemporary frame members having chiselled carpenters assembly marks. The primary braces are pegged to the main frame, storey posts and mid rail, as are the adjacent studs. This is a common late assembly method in primary braced structures where the brace is the main structural member and the studs are secondary to support the infill or outer covering. The walling has a generous proportion of reused timber. Some of this is in the original build and some such as sill plates from normal renewals. The plinth shows early brick at the lower levels of the northerly face, while the western face is mainly rebuilt in the twentieth century. These were the only two portions of plinth really visible in the structure.

The storey and arcade posts have heavy jowls, most with a sharp undercut at the bottom and all the arcade posts on the aisle side have braces from post to aisle tie. Some have a slight curve and tend to follow the idea of a shore as found in many earlier aisled barns.
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This type, from aisle tie to arcade post is more reminiscent of Kentish examples whereas in Essex most shores tend to pass through the aisle tie down to the return sill.
The main arch braces from the arcade posts to the arcade plate and the tiebeams are slightly cranked. The scarf joint to the arcade plate is of the edge halved and bridled type maybe suggesting an earlier date but in arcade plates & purlins tended to carry on well into the seventeenth century and could still be found in nineteenth century barns.
The wallplate to the aisle wall and the wallplate on the midstrey side of the barn have face halved through bladed scarfs that would be the expected type of scarf joint to find at the suggested later date of build. Many of the rafters to the main roof show reuse from an earlier form of roof construction, a crown post type, as they have evidence of collar cut-outs. The signs of smoke blackening suggest a previous use in a domestic building with an open hearth.
The present main roof is of side purlin construction with heavy raking Queen struts mortised and tenoned into the principle rafters. It has a half hipped end at the north from collar level to high mounted small saddles mortised into the fourth rafter from the end. These are set too high to produce a gablet end. The southern end is full gable with later infill.
An interesting feature in both end walls is an offset storey post. This could be an economic design that saves putting in an extra stud to each wall frame as the framing shows no clues to any earlier openings at these points.

The main body of the barn has identical chiselled carpenters assembly marks to the aisle which suggests that the construction is actually of one build with the reused timber being used in the initial build as would be expected by the seventeenth century.
The midstrey, from the internal photographs, appears to be fully framed into the structure suggesting that it is an original build to the structure. The midstrey has a projecting gable supported on extended wallplates with brackets under, again a feature found in Kent. The door openings have been modified but without detailed inspection both in and out it is not possible to suggest the original form.
The road gable end to the structure has modern infill to midrail level with the internal views clearly showing the storey post offset away from the aisle leaving, now, two large areas of plaster of noticeably differing size. The area above midrail level is remarkably complete and shows that the studs above the tiebeam were pegged into it, whereas at the opposite end they are not.
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The lean-to in the southwest corner of the midstrey is a later addition but does not appear to be any later than the eighteenth century. It is well built from mainly reused timber and could have been built as a granary as it had no visible signs of original windows. It was not open but views into the now enclosed roof area showed early dauby lime plaster remains on what would have been the outer wall of the barn. It was not clear whether this was to line the lean–to or had been the original outer coating for the barn structure.
The plinth bricks around the building, where visible, show various ages from possible late sixteenth century to the twentieth century.
No visible signs of the barns original use remain within the structure due to the previous conversion to office use.
CONCLUSION.

From the survey information it can be suggested that the barn is in fact relatively complete to its original construction sometime towards the end of the sixteenth or into the early seventeenth century other than the fact that it has lost one bay to the west. (A four bay barn with midstrey was a very unusual structure as the midstrey or midstreys are usually balanced through the barn length). This fact can be backed by visible evidence. On the aisle at the western end the first scarf joint is only a few feet from the end of the building whereas the assembly numbering runs from that end suggesting that the scarf is in fact about one and one third bays into the barn. On the end walling of the barn the south west and north west corner posts have mortises for the continuation of midrail and arcade brace visible in the end elevation. The replaced sill beam to the aisle at the western end could also relate to the shortening of the barn. Since that time the midstrey doors have been altered and a side entrance door inserted between the lean-to and the front of the midstrey, now closed off from the inside. The road face has seen the more change with its rebuilt lower walls and a door access has been installed to the additive buildings to the south east replacing the earlier shelter sheds. Double doors have also been installed into the southwest gable end in the twentieth century.
FARMING

From the earlier maps the farm was set up as an arable farm of reasonable size for the period. By the end of the eighteenth century the farm also had a dairy content not now ascertainable due to the many changes to the farm site. Following the sale in 1833 the farm was heavily reduced in size to a small holding that would only have been sustainable as a mixed unit concentrating mainly on animals. This is shown by the construction of shelter sheds and the possible milking parlour shown on the map from 1897. This mixed use one can assume carried on through the twentieth century until the major changes away from a farming base in the latter half of the century. 
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NOTES.

Thanks to the owner for providing copies of elevations of the barn and a set of internal photographs, access to the site and scaffolding to the road elevation. To the County Council HEM team for advice before commencing survey.
© Brenda & Elphin Watkin November 2006.
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